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Closing of Mattocks School
End of an Era in Education

By Rachel A. Bonney

=1—he closing of Mattocks School, on James
and Macalester, in St. Paulin June, 1979,
could be considered the end ofan erain the St.
Paul school system. Not only did this mark
the end of more than a century of service to
school students, first as a country school in
“Reserve Town” and later as part of the St.
Paul public school system in the Highland-
Macalester Park areas of St. Paul, but it was
also the closing of one of the oldest of St.
Paul’s schools and the oldest school in the
area. Indeed, the history of Mattocks School
is almost as old as the history of St. Paul, and
it reflects the growth of “Reserve Town”
(Reserve Township of Ramsey County) and
the present-day areas of Groveland-Macales-
ter-Highland Parks in St. Paul.

In the early 1850s, at the same time that St.
Paul was emerging from its origins as a small
pioneer settlement and developing into a
rapidly-growing town and city, pioneer
settlers, primarily 'of German and Irish
origins, were establishing claims on the east
bank of the Mississippi River, on the lands of
the former Fort Snelling military reservation.
This land, released by the federal government
in 1854, was sold at public auction at
Stillwater, Minn., in September, 1854. Much
of the land was purchased by William R.
Marshall in a block for the early settlers.1
Names of some of these early settlers, many of
whom staked what were probably illegal
claims there between 1849 and 1854, survive in
present-day street names in the area: William
Brimhall, William Davern, Adam and Peter
Bohland, G. Bayard, William Finn, and John
Kent, for instance. Cleveland Avenue was
originally called Heide Place, named after
Rudolph Knapheide, whose farmhouse was
located at Randolph and Cleveland.

ABOUT THE AUTHOR: Rachel A. Bonney. assistant
professor of anthropology at the University of North
Carolina, Charlotte, is a descendant of Rudolph
Knapheide and grew up in what would have been his
garden and vineyard in the Highland Park district o fSt.
Paul. She received her B.A. and M.A. degreesfrom the
University of Minnesota, and her doctorate from the
University o f Arizona in 1975.
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BY 1858 THE SETTLERS had organized
into a community, known as Reserve Town,
with a town government and elected officers.
At its August 7,1858, meeting, the town board
voted to create two school districts, to be
known as Districts 1and 2 (later changed by
the state to school districts 8 and 9). The
school in District 1 (8) was Quincy School,
and Mattocks School, originally called
Webster School, was the District 2 (9) school.2

The first Mattocks School was a small
wooden structure, twenty by thirty feet, built
on the southwest corner of Randolph and
Snelling in 1860, under the direction of the
elected school district officers, Rudolph Knap-
heide, director; Joseph Weissinger, treasurer;
and William E. Brimhall, clerk. A grove of
trees, predominantly oaks, was planted
around the building, which served as the
school until 1870. As the population and the
number of students in the district increased,
the ten-student capacity of the wooden
structure became inadequate, and in 1870 the
voters of the school district approved a tax of
$1,200 to build a new school. Construction
began in the same year, and the gray limestone
building was completed in 1871 at a cost of
$1,800. “Webster School Number 9” opened
in 1871, and the old wooden building, having
been sold to Reserve Town for use as a town
hall, was moved to the east side ofthe lot and
remodeled for this purpose.3

In 1887 Reserve Township was annexed
into the city of St. Paul, and the name of
Webster School Number 9 was changed to
Mattocks School, in honor of the Reverend
John Mattocks, a prominent Presbyterian
minister who was secretary of the Board of
Education.4 At this time, the old wooden
school/town hall became an outbuilding for
the school and was used as a storage shed for
wood and coal. By about 1916, it was
necessary to add a new classroom, in the form
of a portable, for the first and second grades,
while grades three, four, and five continued to
be taught in the stone building.5



ABOUT 1921 some of the students were
transferred from Mattocks to the new Grove-
land Park School on St. Clair and Cleveland,
but the school was still too small, and in 1922
the new Mattocks School, a two-story brick
structure located on James and Macalester,
was opened. The old stone schoolhouse was
used for special classes until 1929. From about
1931 until about 1960 it was maintained by an
American Legion Post.61n 1964 it was moved
from its original location at Randolph and
Snelling to the grounds of the Highland Park
Junior and Senior High Schools on Edge-
cumbe and Snelling, where it is maintained by
the Minnesota Historical Society. It was to be
restored to its original appearance with appro-
priate furnishings and would also serve as a
classroom for special classes for the high
school.7

Old Mattocks School, then, surrounded by
its grove of trees on the southwest corner of
Randolph and Snelling, was a one-room
county school. The portable that was added
about 1916 stood to the southeast of the
school, and a double outhouse and the small
shed that had been the first school were also at
the back of the school. Across from the
school, on Brimhall, just off Randolph, was
the Koenig farmhouse. Down the slope from
the Koenig farm and the school, on Snelling,
was a small lake or pond, called “Koenig’
Pond,” which was used as a skating pond in

Richard F. Bonney with Chief Curley Bear
who visited Old Mattocks School in 1921.

the winter by the children at the school and
whose banks bloomed with blue forget-me-
nots during the spring.8

By 1915 a drugstore, Sattler Drug Store,
stood on the northeast corner of the inter-
section and was a source of ice cream cones,
candy and other treats for Mattocks students.
Indeed, Sattler’s son sometimes shared his
father’ candy with his classmates. Dietrich’s
Grocery was located to the east of or behind
the drug store on Randolph. Shortly after
1890, the streetcar line or “dummy” line was
built from Snelling to Cleveland on Randolph,
and the tracks for the cars ran in front of the
school on Randolph.9

THE CARS ON THE Randolph dummy
line were closed, identical at both ends, with
trolleys that connected to the overhead elec-
trical wires and controls for running the car at
each end. When one trolley was not in use, it
was fastened down, and the trolley at the
opposite end was swung into place on the
overhead wire. In this way the car did not have
to be turned around; the conductor-motor-
man simply moved to the controls at the
opposite end of the car.

The line ended at Randolph and Cleveland,
in front of what is now 2064 Randolph, and
the motorman-conductor would get out of the
car, pull down the trolley at the back by a rope
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and tie it down. Then he would release the
front trolley and attach it to the overhead
wire. When this was accomplished, the car
would wait at each end of the line for a while
before starting the return trip. A favorite sport
of school boys of the time was to “pull the
trolley” jjilpull the trolley off the wires,
forcing the motorman to climb to the top of
the car, pull the trolley down, and put it back
upon the wires, with the trolley “sparking like
mad” all the time.

There was a sandbox attached to the car,
and in icy weather the motorman could pull a
lever to release sand onto the tracks for better
traction. It was sometimes necessary to use the
sandbox on Halloween, when pranksters
soaped the tracks halfway up the Randolph
hill so that the car was unable to make it to the
top. Between the 1890s and 1920, the streetcar
was free.0

THE GRAY LIMESTONE BLOCKS used
to build old Mattocks School were quarried
from the bluffs of the Mississippi River. The
walls were about 20 inches thick. At the front
of the school was a bell tower about forty feet
high,1Lalthough this was not used in the last
years of the school. Immediately inside the
front door was a vestibule with hooks on the
walls, which served as a cloakroom. The
classroom, which held between thirty and
forty students, was entered by doors on either
side of the cloakroom. Wainscoting ran
around the room, and there were blackboards
on the front wall behind the teacher’s desk.
Two large windows were located high on each
of the side walls.2

The students’ desks, which were placed
toward the front of the room, were the “old-
fashioned” individual type in which the desk
top was fastened to the back of the seat in
front of it, and the seats could be flipped up.
Inkwells were set into the upper right-hand
corner of each desk top, and students had to
dip their pens into the ink wells repeatedly
while writing their lessons. The desks were
arranged in four to six rows of about six to
eight desks per row and were bolted to the
floor.B3

The school was heated by a pot-bellied
wood-burning stove at the rear of the
classroom, and students would gather around
the stove to keep warm. Mr. Hinkle, the
school’ janitor during the early 1900s, lived
nearby on Randolph. He kept the school
supplied with firewood and started the fire in
the morning, but the teacher and older
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students kept the fire going during the day.
Mr. Hinkle also brought drinking water for
the students in a large pail, and all the students
used the same dipper. This was the school’s
only source of water. 44

ONE OF THE FIRST TEACHERS at the
old Mattocks School was Walter Kittredge
Mulliken, a handsome red-headed man born
in 1846 in Ornsville (near Bangor), Maine.
Sometime before 1860, the MuUikensBpi
Walter, his parents, and his sisters -9 moved
to a farm near Zumbrota, Minnesota. Books
and education were important to Mulliken,
and he attended a preparatory school con-
nected with Carleton College in Northfield,
for four years before entering Carleton. He
had to trudge “miles to school, carrying his
shoes to save them for the classes he would
attend.”5 In 1876 he graduated from Carle-
ton, salutatorian in a class of twenty-six
students. His first teaching position was old
Mattocks School, then Webster School
Number 9, where he taught from 1876 until
1879 or 1880.16

In a 1922 newspaper interview, Mulliken
described the school and his role as a
teacher:I7

“Lexington Avenue was then the
Western limit of St. Paul... The place
where the little school house stood, as it
stands today under branching trees on
the edge ofgreen meadows, was known
as Reserve Town. It was a country
school.

“School began when I rang the bell at 9
otlock and ended at 4 in the afternoon.
We had two fifteen minute recesses
during the day and an hourfor lunch.
All the pupils walked at least a mile to
school, many ofthem more. All carried
their lunches. | hadforty pupils ranging
in agefrom 5 to 25 years.

“l taught thirty classes a day. When one
class wasfiling down another wasfiling
up to recite. | had a well-ordered class-
room because | kept them busy. There
was no timefor nonsense. ”

Atthat time it was customary for unmarried
school teachers to board with community
members, and Mulliken boarded at the home
of the school district treasurer, Rudolph
Knapheide. Two years later, in 1878, he
married the oldest Knapheide daughter,



Sophia, who, with her younger sister Anna,
had been students at Mattocks School.
Although none of the five Mulliken children
attended Mattocks School, five of the grand-
children were students there.

Mulliken was apparently a stern task-
master, had a hot temper, and was a strict
disciplinarian who ruled his home and his
classroom with an iron fist.88And he told his
interviewer:

“lam not in sympathy with this present-
day idea that children must be enter-
tained in school. | believe in instilling
lessons in the minds ofthe scholars, not
in writing things on paper, and later
consigning the corrected papers to the
wastepaper basket. Theplacefor lessons
is in the child head...

“The trouble with the schools o ftoday is
that they have gotten away altogether
from the old common school education
idea.

“Today some ofmy pupils are building
bridges across the state. Others are
preaching, practicing medicine, working
inforeignfields. But that ground work
in the little old school, even if it was
NOTpainted red, gave them their start.
I am proud of my pupils. Infact ... |

Walter Kittridge Mulliken

married one of them. | met my wife,
Sophia Knapheide, while teaching. Two
years later we were married. "9

The last two teachers at the old Mattocks
School were Miss Brennan, who taught
grades one and two in the “portable,” and
Miss Canning, who taught the other classes in
the stone building. Miss Canning was remem-
bered by several of her former students as
wearing a black straw hat, “like a Kelly
Straw.”d

Most of the Mattocks students came from
the area to the south and west of the school,
students from the district to the north of
Mattocks transferred to Groveland Park
School when it opened about 1921.21 Students
walked to school in the early days, some
coming from farms as far away as Cleveland
and Hartford. They would cut across the
campus of St. Catherine’ College to shorten
the walk, which seemed even longer on
bitterly cold winter days. When the snow was
especially deep, some children were given
rides to school on horse-drawn bob-sleighs.
After the dummy line opened, students from
around Randolph and Cleveland would ride
the dummy to school rather than walking.
They would walk to school if they were late
and missed the dummy, or, if they were early,
they walked until the car came along.

The dummy also served student needs other
than transportation (and recreation) in the
early days of its service. On one occasion a
second grader had dashed offto school in such
a hurry that he forgot to put on his shirt.
When he arrived at school, he was chagrined
to discover that he was wearing only an
undershirt beneath his jacket. His embarrass-
ment increased when the next car to come by
the school brought his shirt, sent by his
mother and delivered by an older girl.

STUDENTS WERE CALLED to classes
and in from recess by a large bell rung by the
teacher; sometimes students chosen by the
teacher were allowed to ring the bell as a
reward. During the early years, old Mattocks
School had eight grades, but by 1916 there
were only five. The curriculum consisted of
the basic school subjects of that day: reading,
writing, arithmetic, spelling, history, geogra-
phy, singing, and art. Art also included crafts
like beadwork and weaving. Grades were
taught separately, and lessons were recited to
the teacher by one class while the other classes
worked on their lessons.

Punishment by the teachers between 1916
and 1920 was remembered as being relatively
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mild. Students might be rapped over the
knuckles with a ruler, but one student, who
irritated the teacher because he twisted his
nose and sniffed, was threatened with punish-
ment in the form of a clothespin clamped on
his nose.

There was no elaborate playground equip-
ment for use during recess and lunch periods.
In 1916 the only “equipment” consisted of
swings in the huge old oak trees planted at the
back of the school in the 1860s. Otherwise,
students had to entertain themselves and
make their own games. They played ball —
softball (kittenball) — and games like tag and
“Annie, Annie Over,” and boys engaged in the
traditional masculine activities of wrestling
and teasing the girls.

Another popular game for school students
about 1920 was a version of“King of the Hill,”
which was called “King ofthe Corner.” In this
version, one team would try to hold a corner
from another team, who would try to pull
them out. Their special target was the team
captain. Such games were not without mishap
— clothes were torn while playing “King of
the Corner,” and one boy playing “Annie,
Annie Over” ran into the corner of the school
building and hurt his head.

School activities were not confined to the
three R’s, for there were also special activities.
“At times we would roast popcorn on the old
wood stove, during, it seems to me, lunch hour
or for special times.”2 In 1921 a Blackfoot
Indian from Glacier Park, Chief Curly Bear,
dressed in war bonnet, visited the school, and
the welcoming speech was made by Richard
Bonney, the ten-year-old grandson of the
former teacher, Walter Mulliken.

Probably one of the last special activities to
be held in the old stone school was the May
Day celebration in 1922 when Mulliken
addressed the students. The last celebration
for Mattocks School was held in June, 1979,
to commemorate the closing ofa school with a
long history and tradition in Ramsey County.
Former Mattocks students were invited to
attend, and the oldest student was honored,
Oscar Knoblauch of St. Paul, whose grand-
father, Karl Peters, was one of the earliest
settlers in Reserve Town.
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